A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The evidence was insufficient to convict appellant for the 

first five counts of theft by color or aid of deception. 

2. The trial court erred in ordering restitution for those theft 

counts for which there was insufficient evidence to convict. 

3. The State violated appellant's constitutional right to remain 

silent by purposefully eliciting testimony from its police witness that 

appellant refused to talk with the police before arrest. 

4. Counsel was ineffective for failing to cite the Fifth 

Amendment and article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution when 

objecting to police testimony that Johnson exercised his constitutional right 

to prearrest silence. 

5. Counsel was ineffective for failing to cite relevant case law 

justifying an exceptional sentence below the standard range. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. The State introduced evidence that appellant and his 

alleged accomplice committed theft by entering a secret agreement in 

October 2007 to steal from the Seattle School District. Where the first 

five alleged thefts occurred before this date, is the evidence insufficient to 

support those counts? 
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2. Should restitution be imposed only for charges for which 

there was sufficient evidence to convict? 

3. The Fifth Amendment and article I , section 9 of the 

Washington Constitution guarantee the right to remain silent before arrest. 

The State is prohibited from commenting on the exercise of this right.. Did 

the State impermissibly penalize appellant for exercising his right to 

prearrest silence by eliciting testimony from a police witness that appellant 

repeatedly refused to talk to police during their investigation? 

4. The Sixth Amendment guarantees the right to effective 

assistance of counsel. During the officer's testimony, defense counsel 

objected on ER 403 grounds. Was counsel ineffective in failing to cite 

constitutional law that would have excluded the officer's testimony on 

appellant's pre arrest silence? 

5. Trial courts have authority to impose an exceptional 

sentence downward if the Sentencing Reform Act's multiple offense 

policy results in a presumptive sentence that is clearly excessive. Was 

counsel ineffective when he failed to cite relevant case law alerting the 

court to this authority? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged David Johnson with 36 counts of first and second 

degree theft by color or aid of deception. CP 25-39. These charges arose 
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from what the State described as a phony vendor scheme. 6RP 8. 1 The State 

alleged that Johnson, together with Silas Potter, stole $168,275 from Seattle 

Public Schools between May 16,2007 and June 14,2010, through Johnson's 

non-profit, Grace of Mercy. CP 25-39. 

Potter has a master's degree in communication, and worked for 

Microsoft and then the Seattle School District (SSD or the District) starting 

around 2001. 6RP 43-45. Potter was program manager for the District's 

Regional Small Business Development Program (RSBDP or the program). 

6RP 44-46, 64. The RSBDP developed out of the District's historically 

underutilized business program, which aimed to increase the number of 

minority- and women-owned businesses contracting with the District. 6RP 

44-46. The District recruited personal service contractors for the RSBDp·to 

conduct outreach and teach classes in Seattle and Tacoma. 6RP 59-60, 69-

70; Ex. 2. The goal was to help minority business owners learn about and 

successfully compete for government contracts. Ex. 2; 6RP 45-46, 69-70; 

9RP 6-9. 

I This brief refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1 RP -
June 24, 2013; 2RP - June 25, 2013; 3RP - July 2, August 9, November 7, 
2013, February 7, February 14,2014; 4RP - October 21, 2013; 5RP -
October 23 , 2013; 6RP - October 28, 2013; 7RP - October 29,2013; 8RP 
- October 30,2013; 9RP - October 31 , 2013; lORP - November 4,2013; 
11 RP - November 5, 2013; 12RP - November 6, 2013; 13RP - November 
8,2013. 

-3-



Johnson completed the eighth grade and has difficulty with reading 

and comprehension. 11RP 102-04. Potter first met Johnson when Johnson 

installed security systems for the District through his business, Allstate 

Surveillance. 6RP 50-54. They became friends, and Potter encouraged 

Johnson to get involved with the RSBDP. 6RP 51-53. Johnson eventually 

approached Potter hoping to become a personal service contractor for the 

program through Grace of Mercy. 6RP 79-81. Johnson knew several small 

contractors in the Tacoma area he thought would be interested. 6RP 80-81. 

Potter approved Johnson for an outreach contract from March 2007 

until August 2007. 6RP 81; Ex. 4 (03/01/07 - 08/31/07). This contract 

required Johnson to assist with implementing the program, network and 

encourage participation in the program, and perform similar outreach work. 

Ex. 4 (03/01 /07 - 08/31/07); see also Ex. 4. (08/08/07 - Modification). 

Johnson was very active and brought in several contractors through 

his outreach work. 6RP 118, 123-14; 7RP 92-93; 8RP 165-66, 171. He 

described the work as "[b ]ringing awareness to the people out there and in 

the city, bringing people to the classes, getting the information out to them." 

11 RP 105. Johnson created pamphlets about the program, which he 

distributed at home improvement stores where contractors frequented . 11 RP 

110-11, 119. Johnson also attended several RSBDP classes early on so he 
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could get familiar with the program and provide better information to 

contractors. llRP 99. 

Several contractors testified to Johnson's recruitment work. Thomas 

Roundtree, Jr., said Johnson helped walk him through the District's bidding 

process. 10RP 189-90. Roundtree believed that Johnson's outreach efforts 

were "quite significant" and Johnson was "like a hound dog" trying to 

convince him to attend RSBDP classes. 10RP 194-95. Likewise, Raymond 

Montgomery, Jr., attended several RSBDP classes at Johnson's urging. 

11 RP 17. Johnson also recruited Seven Hobbs for the program, who 

testified that Johnson was successful in his outreach work. 10RP 136-43. 

Potter, too, recognized Johnson was an integral part of the outreach program. 

7RP 112. 

However, in October 2007, the District began requiring its RSBDP 

contractors to perform not just outreach work but also teach classes. 6RP 85. 

As a result of this change, Potter said he and Johnson entered a secret 

agreement to split money for classes that Johnson would not teach. 6RP 84-

85. Potter claimed they met at a Denny's and Johnson proposed that he 

pretend to teach classes, submit falsified invoices, and then split the proceeds 

with Potter. 6RP 84-85. Potter said this meeting took place in September or 

October 2007. 6RP 84-85. 
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Johnson's personal service contract for October 1, 2007 to August 

31, 2008 specified he would "[ d]evelop training methods to augment 

program designed by SSD," in addition to his outreach work. Ex. 4 

(10/01/07 - 08/31/08). From October 1, 2007 onward, Johnson's invoices 

stated he conducted several training sessions for contractors. Ex. 5 

(10/01/2007 - 6/14/2007). Potter testified that after the alleged meeting at 

Denny's, he began creating all the Grace of Mercy invoices and forged 

Johnson's signature on at least 15 subsequent invoices. 6RP 168-69, 175-76, 

181-99; 7RP 32. Potter claimed he did so because Johnson was out of town 

and approved the forgeries. 6RP 181-82. However, Potter could not recall 

whether he received Johnson's approval on several occasions. 6RP 187-92. 

Potter claimed that after their October 2007 agreement, Johnson 

began giving him a portion of the School District checks in cash. 6RP 201. 

The State showed that Johnson withdrew $89,000 in cash from his Grace of 

Mercy bank accounts. 10RP 53. The withdrawals were haphazard; there 

were no recurring dates or recurring amounts withdrawn. 10RP 119. The 

State's witness acknowledged there was no way to know how Johnson used 

the cash. 10RP 107-08. Potter could not recall the dates Johnson gave him 

cash or the amounts of cash he received. 7RP 46-47. Nor could he 

remember how he and Johnson agreed to divide the money. 6RP 86. Potter 

ultimately pleaded guilty to theft and testified against Johnson. 7RP 133. 
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Detective Keith Savas also testified. 9RP 128. Defense counsel 

objected several times to Savas's testimony, arguing it was irrelevant and 

prejudicial under ER 403. 9RP 128-32. The trial court noted counsel's 

continuing objection. 9RP 131-32. Savas then testified he interviewed 

Sorensen, who agreed to speak with him. 9RP 132-33. He also said he 

interviewed Potter, who confessed to the alleged conspiracy. 9RP 133. 

Savas then testified he attempted to contact Johnson several times, but 

Johnson continually refused to speak with him. 9RP 134. He explained he 

went to Johnson's house to investigate, but Johnson was not there and he 

"never got farther than the front living room." 9RP 134-35. 

Lorrie Sorensen also testified. 8RP 207. She and Johnson dated 

during the time period that Johnson contracted with the District. 8RP 210, 

221-23. She said Johnson told her he was getting checks from the District 

for teaching computer classes. 8RP 223. Sorensen believed Johnson "could 

not possibly teach a class," because he was "not computer literate." 6RP 

223-24. She claimed Johnson told her, "I can't believe I am getting paid for 

something I don't even know how to do." 6RP 225. 

Johnson agreed that he never taught any RSBDP classes. llRP 123. 

Rather, he contracted with the District to perform outreach work. llRP 99, 

123. State and defense witnesses all agreed that Johnson brought contractors 
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to the program through his outreach efforts. 6RP 118, 123-14; 7RP 92-93, 

157-58,165-66; 8RP 165-66, 171,226; 10RP 131,136,173,189; llRP 17. 

Johnson denied suggesting to Potter that they split the Grace of 

Mercy earnings. 11RP 120. Nor did he agree to Potter forging his signature 

on the falsified invoices Potter created. 11 RP 123. Several witnesses 

testified to Johnson's functional illiteracy and inability to comprehend 

complex information. 8RP 188; 10RP 138; 11RP 103. For instance, Potter's 

assistant, Cheryl Graves, helped Johnson complete his Allstate application 

and invoices, because he was unable to do so himself. 8RP 154, 188, 206. 

By contrast, several witnesses testified to Potter's repeated 

dishonesty and deception. 8RP 127-28, 139-40, 182,287; 9RP 38-39, 182. 

For instance, the District stopped funding the RSBDP in 201 O. 7RP 49-50. 

Potter then set up a private program with the same name using the District's 

mailing address and solicited $35,000 from Tacoma Public Schools. 7RP 

19, 72-74; 9RP 182; 11 RP 43. Potter spent all the money and switched the 

bank account mailing address so the RSBDP treasurer would not discover it. 

9RP 32-33, 38-40. When the District found out about the check, it 

demanded that Potter return the money. 9RP 199. Attempting to avoid 

blame, Potter accused his secretary of mistakenly depositing the check in his 

private RSBDP account. 8RP 139-40. 
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Given Johnson's significant limitations compared to Potter's 

sophistication, defense counsel emphasized it was highly unlikely that 

Johnson initiated or participated in such a complicated scheme to steal from 

the Seattle School District. 12RP 415-17. 

Johnson received 36 checks totaling $168,275 from the District for 

his work though Grace of Mercy. 10RP 53; Ex. 5. These 36 checks formed 

the 36 counts of first and second degree theft by color or aid of deception as 

follows: 

Count Date Amount Charge 
Count 1 May 16,2007 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 2 May 30, 2007 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 3 June 27, 2007 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 4 July 30, 2007 $5,000 First Degree 

---

Count 5 September 5, 2007 $5 ,100 First Degree 
Count 6 October 1, 2007 $4,900 First Degree 

-- f--
Count 7 November 28,2007 $4,400 First Degree 
Count 8 December 3,2007 $5,100 First Degree 
-
Count 9 December 19,2007 $5,100 First Degree 
Count 10 February 4, 2008 $4,800 First Degree 
Count 11 February 20, 2008 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 12 March 24, 2008 $6,100 First Degree 
Count 13 April 21 , 2008 $4,400 First Degree 
Count 14 May 28, 2008 $3,650 First Degree 
Count 15 June 30, 2008 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 16 July 30, 2008 $4,800 First Degree 
Count 17 August 27, 2008 $3,400 First Degree 
Count 18 October 1, 2008 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 19 November 19, 2008 $1,500 Second Degree 

I 

Count 20 November 24,2008 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 21 December 1, 2008 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 22 January 5, 2009 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 23 January 28, 2009 $4,800 First Degree 
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Count 24 March 4, 2009 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 25 March 30, 2009 $4,800 First Degree 
Count 26 April 29, 2009 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 27 May 27,2009 $5,600 First Degree 
Count 28 July 1,2009 $5,000 First Degree 
Count 29 August 3, 2090 $2,800 First Degree 
Count 30 September 14, 2009 $7,200 First Degree 
Count 31 September 30, 2009 $5,000 Second Degree1 

Count 32 October 28,2009 $3,000 Second Degree 
Count 33 December 7,2009 $3,000 Second Degree 
Count 34 December 29,2009 $4,000 Second Degree 
Count 35 January 27, 2010 $5,625 First Degree 
Count 36 June 14,2010 $4,200 Second Degree 

Ex. 1; Ex. 5; CP 157-92. 

During deliberations the jury asked, "Can we reduce any of the 

charges from 1 st to 2nd degree? Or make the recommendation of such?" 

CP 132. The jury also asked, "Do jurors have any room to exercise leniency 

in our verdict based on witness ' testimony(s)?" CP 128. In response, the 

court told the jury to refer to its instructions. CP 129, 133. The jury found 

Johnson guilty as charged on all 36 counts. CP 196-201. 

At sentencing, defense counsel argued Johnson should be sentenced 

for only one theft conviction under double jeopardy principles. 3RP 51-53; 

CP 246-58. Relying on State v. Vining, 2 Wn. App. 802, 472 P.2d 564 

(1970), he claimed that where multiple thefts are the result of one 

overarching scheme, there is only one crime. 3RP 51-52; CP 250-54. 

2 In 2009, the legislature increased first degree theft from property 
exceeding $1,500 to that exceeding $5,000. Laws 01'2009, ch. 431, § 7. 
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Defense counsel also requested a mitigated sentence based on 

Johnson's first-time offender status, as well as his educational and mental 

limitations. 3RP 53-56; CP 255-57. In a psychological report, Dr. Kenneth 

Muscatel explained that Johnson dropped out of the eighth grade and had a 

history of special education. CP 261. He found Johnson to be "functionally 

illiterate" and expressed concern over Johnson's "thinking skills, expressive 

and receptive verbal language skills, and intellectual and academic skills." 

CP 263-65. Dr. Muscatel believed the sophisticated thefts were "well 

beyond [Johnson's] intellectual and academic skill and development." CP 

265. He also noted that Johnson could "be easily victimized In pnson 

because of his intellectual and other limitations." CP 267. 

The trial court ultimately rejected defense counsel's arguments and 

imposed a standard range sentence of 43 months, based on the State's 

recommendation. CP 304-08; 3RP 67-68. The court also imposed $168,275 

in restitution for the total amount of the 36 checks. CP 307, 314. 

Jolmson filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 317. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS COUNTS 1-5. 

The alleged agreement between Potter and Johnson formed the basis 

of the State's claim of theft by color or aid of deception. Potter testified the 

agreement arose in October 2007. However, the jury convicted Johnson of 
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five counts predating this agreement: May 16, May 30, June 27, June 30, and 

September 5,2007 (Counts 1-5). CP 157-62, 197. Before October 2007, all 

evidence demonstrated that Johnson actually performed the outreach work 

specified in his personal service contracts. There was no deception. 

Convictions on the first five counts should be reversed and dismissed 

because the evidence is insufficient to support them. 

In every criminal prosecution, due process requires the State prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt every fact necessary to constitute the crime 

charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068,25 L. Ed. 2d 368 

(1970). A reviewing court must reverse a conviction for insufficient 

evidence where no rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt, viewing all 

evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Vasquez, 178 

Wn.2d 1,6,309 P.3d 318 (2013). "[I]nferences based on circumstantial 

evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." Id. at 16. 

Such inferences must "logically be derived from the facts proved, and should 

not be the subject of mere surmise or arbitrary assumption." Bailey v. 

Alabama, 219 U.S. 219, 232, 31 S. Ct. 145,55 L. Ed. 191 (1911). 

"Theft" means "by color or aid of deception, to obtain control over 

the property of another, or the value thereof, with intent to deprive that 

person of such property:· CP 146; RCW 9A.56.020( I )(b). "By color or aid 
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of deception" means "the deception operated to bring about the obtaining of 

the property. It is not necessary that deception be the sole means of 

obtaining the property." CP 147; RCW 9A.S6.010(4). 

"Deception" occurs when the actor knowingly (1) "creates or 

confirms another's false impression which the actor knows to be false"; (2) 

"fails to correct another's impression which the actor previously has created 

or confirmed"; (3) "prevents another from acquiring information material to 

the disposition of property involved"; or (4) "promises performance which 

the actor does not intend to perform or knows will not be performed." CP 

148; RCW 9A.S6.010(S). 

Here, the to-convict instruction for the first count oftheft specified: 

To convict the defendant of the crime of Theft in the First 
Degree as charged in Count 1, each of the following elements 
of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

(1) That on or about May 16, 2007, the defendant, 
together with another, obtained control over the 
property of Seattle Public Schools by color or aid of 
deception; 

(2) That the property exceeded $1 ,SOO in value; 

(3) That the defendant intended to deprive Seattle Public 
Schools of the property; 

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. 
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CP 157. The to-convict instructions for the next four counts were identical 

except for the dates: May 30, 2007 (Count 2); June 27, 2007 (Count 3); June 

30,2007 (Count 4); and September 5, 2007 (Count 5). CP 158-62. 

The State's claim of theft by color or aid of deception hinged on the 

illicit agreement between Potter and Johnson. The State opened its case by 

arguing that Johnson and Potter "managed to steal $168,000 from 

the . .. Seattle Public Schools, using what's called a phony vendor scheme." 

6RP 8. The State argued in closing that '~[t]he evidence in this case has 

shown that the payments to the defendant were the result of a secret 

agreement between Silas Potter and this defendant." 12RP 394. However, 

this "secret agreement" did not arise until September or October 2007. 

Potter explained that Johnson first approached him about obtaining a 

contract for Grace of Mercy to do outreach through RSBDP. 6RP 79-83. 

Johnson was initially hired solely for outreach work. 6RP 81. This was 

reflected in his first personal service contract. Ex. 4 (03/01107 - 08131107; 

08/08/07 - Modification). Johnson's scope of work from March 2007 to 

October 2007 stated: 

y Assist in the implementation of Seattle Public 
School's HUB program by developing a strategic 
partnership with existing organizations rendering any 
procurement or technical assistance to HUB tinns 
over and above what SPS otfers. 
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)r Establish contact with elected/appointed officials in 
King, Pierce and Snohomish Counties, municipalities 
and school districts to present Seattle Public School's 
HUB program and encourage their participation in a 
regional effort. 

)r Utilize eXIstmg organizations to infonn and 
encourage qualified finns to participate in the SPS 
HUB program. 

)r Participate in SPS's legislative agenda to promote 
policies and legislation which maximize the benefits 
for HUBs. 

)r Meet regularly with SPS's HUB Coordinator to 
assess the progress toward the goals and objectives of 
the program. 

)r Expand opportunities for finns on the SPS HUB 
Roster. 

Ex. 4 (03/01 /07 - 08/31107; 08/08/07 - Modification). Johnson's invoices 

for May 16, May 30, June 27, July 30, and September 5, 2007, also listed 

only outreach work. Ex. 5. This included community outreach sessions, 

helping contractors with bids, handing out program infonnation, and 

assessing potential contractors. Ex. 5. 

The State's witnesses coniinned Johnson's early outreach work. For 

instance, RSBDP Classroom Facilitator Jacqueline Smith Annstrong 

testified she saw Johnson at several classes early on, explaining that he took 

notes, appeared "very interested in the intc)1mation," and networked 

afterwards. 7RP 157-58, 165-66. Graves testified she saw Johnson at 
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classes and he recruited people early on. 8RP 165-66, 171. Sorensen 

likewise said Johnson networked to recruit small businesses for the program. 

8RP 226. She explained that Johnson was "very interested in people taking 

the classes and thought it was a wonderful opportunity, and would speak to 

other people about it." 8RP 226-27. Potter also acknowledged Johnson 

brought in contractors through his outreach work. 6RP 118, 123-14; 7RP 

92-93. He agreed that Johnson was an active participant and his outreach 

work was integral to the program. 7RP 112. 

Defense witnesses corroborated this testimony. Hobbs, Roundtree, 

Montgomery, and Tommy Nicholson all testified Johnson recruited them. 

lORP 131, 136, 173, 189,194-99; l1RP 17. Hobbs said Johnson recruited 

many people and his outreach efforts were successful. lORP 143-44. 

Roundtree testified that Johnson helped him with the School District's 

bidding process and found Johnson's efforts to be "[q]uite significant." 

1 ORP 189, 195. Montgomery likewise said Johnson told him about the 

classes offered and gave him useful brochures. 11 RP 17-21. 

Johnson maintained that he contracted with the School District to do 

outreach work. 11 RP 99-\ 05. His goal was "to educate people as far as 

understanding what the program was about." llRP 99, 105. He created 

informational booklets and distributed them to potential contractors. 1 \ RP 
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107-14,119. Johnson also explained that he attended several classes to get 

familiar with the program. 11RP 99. 

As Potter explained, the program changed in October 2007 such that 

the District required its outreach contractors to also teach classes. 6RP 85. 

Potter claimed this led to his agreement with Johnson to submit falsified 

invoices for teaching and split the money. 6RP 84-85. Potter said this 

meeting took place in September or October 2007. 6RP 84-85. 

This change was reflected in Johnson's personal service contract for 

October 1, 2007 to August 31, 2008. Ex. 4 (10/01/07 - 08/31/08). In 

addition to the original outreach work, the new contract required Johnson to 

"[d]evelop training methods to augment program designed by SSD." Ex. 4 

(l0/01l07 - 08/31/08). It was also reflected in Johnson's subsequent 

invoices. For the first time, Jolmson's October 1,2007 invoice stated that he 

conducted several training sessions on estimation, marketing, and business 

development. Ex. 5 (1 % 112007). Potter testified that the October 1, 2007 

invoice was submitted after he and Johnson met at Denny's, because it stated 

that Johnson started teaching classes. 6RP 166-67,202. From that point on, 

Potter, and not Johnson, created the Grace of Mercy invoices specifying that 

Johnson trained contractors. 6RP 168, 172-78; Ex. 5. 

Potter also testified Johnson gave him cash pursuant to their 

agreement from "October of2007 until 2009." 6RP 201-03. Potter said this 
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was "[b ]ecause the first months, we had not had an agreement. That 

agreement didn't take effect until like November." 6RP 202. 

The alleged deception that formed the basis of the State's charges 

was the secret agreement between Johnson and Potter that occurred in 

September or October 2007. The result of this purported agreement was that 

Johnson claimed he was teaching classes, when in fact he was not, and he 

then split the cash with Potter. Before the October I, 2007 invoice, there 

was no deception. Johnson's prior contract and prior invoices were all based 

on his actual outreach work, as corroborated by both State and defense 

witnesses. As a result, the State failed to prove that Johnson used color or

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