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

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

1. The evidence supporting counts 1 through 5 was sufficient 

to prove appellant intentionally billed the Seattle School District's Small 

Business Development Program for outreach work he never performed 

because it proved that school district employees and outreach contractors 

had never seen the appellant or heard of his business, that appellant never 

went to outreach contractor meetings, that the invoices appellant submitted 

for the outreach work were fraudulent, and that appellant lied and offered 

forged documents to support his claim during his testimony at trial. 

2. The State did not improperly invite the jury to infer guilt 

from appellant's exercise of his constitutional right to remain silent when 

it elicited testimony from the investigating detective that he went to 

appellant's house, sent him emails, and called his telephone number 

several times to contact him without success, because it did not argue or 

3 Clerk's papers at page indicated. 
4 Verbatim report of proceedings dated February 7, 2014, at pages indicated. 
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imply his silence was evidence of guilt so it was not a comment on 

appellant's pre-arrest silence. 

3. Counsel's failure to object to the detective's 

testimony regarding unreturned telephone calls and emails on Fifth 

Amendment grounds and to ask for an exceptional sentence below the 

standard range on the grounds that the multiple offense policy produced a 

clearly excessive sentence was not ineffective because the law does not 

support either claim. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE FOR COUNTS 1 
THROUGH 5. 

The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, 

after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any 

rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). When the 

sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, all reasonable 

inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and 

interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 

899,906-07,567 P.2d 1136 (1977). A claim of insufficiency admits the 

truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be 
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drawn therefrom. State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590,593,608 P.2d 1254, 

affd, 95 Wn.2d 385,622 P.2d 1240 (1980). 

This inquiry does not require the reviewing court to 
determine whether it believes the evidence at trial 
established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. "Instead the 
relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in 
the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational 
trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the 
crime beyond a reasonable doubt." 

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628,632 (1980) (citations 

omitted). Where evidence is conflicting or of such a character that 

reasonable minds may differ it is the province of the jury to weigh the 

evidence, determine the credibility of witnesses, and decide the disputed 

questions of fact. State v. Gerber, 28 Wn. App. 214,216-17,622 P.2d 888 

(1981). 

A rational juror could have found appellant guilty of first-degree 

theft as charged in counts 1 through 5 beyond a reasonable doubt. Given 

what the jurors had heard about Potter and appellant's scheme to steal 

money from the school district by submitting false invoices they could 

have rationally inferred that appellant had not done the outreach work he 

billed for in his first five invoices. The exact same amounts billed on the 

first four invoices, the exact same hours billed on the invoices for Rye and 

appellant, appellant's email blaming the "new employee" for the $100 

error on the fifth invoice, the vague yet similar descriptions of the work 
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performed, Potter's evasiveness about lohnson's services and admission 

that appellant attended none of the personal service contractor meetings 

and appeared nowhere in the SBDP literature, his testimony that the scope 

of work document appellant admitted as exhibit 104 for his outreach work 

and the Grace of Mercy flyers he admitted as exhibits 110 and 111 were 

forgeries, and testimony by Rye, Ibarra, and the SBDP employees that 

they had never met appellant or heard of Grace of Mercy, support this 

inference. The jury observed appellant's testimony contradicting Potter's 

version of events and could have rationally concluded that appellant lied 

when he testified that he performed outreach work throughout the time 

period of the thefts, particularly after he offered several forged documents 

into evidence to support his claim. 

In his brief, appellant views the evidence at trial in a light most 

favorable to himself and omits any contrary evidence to argue that the 

evidence at trial on counts 1 through 5 was insufficient. He omits the 

circumstantial evidence contained in the first five invoices themselves and 

testimony about them that show they were fraudulent. He omits the 

evidence of the unexplained absence of his name or the name of his 

business in any of the SBDP literature and his absence at the personal 

service contractor meetings. Finally, he omits his own unbelievable 

testimony at trial and the several documents he forged and offered at trial 
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to support that testimony. Taking that evidence in a light most favorable 

to the State, the evidence was sufficient to prove that appellant's first five 

invoices for outreach work were also fraudulent and constituted theft by 

deception. 

2. VIOLA nON OF APPELLANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT 
RIGHT. 

The State may not comment on the accused's exercise of his Fifth 

Amendment pre-arrest right to remain silent. State v. Sweet, 138 Wn.2d 

466,980 P.2d 1223 (1999); State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 927 P.2d 235 

(1996); State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 804 P.2d 10 (1991). A 

defendant's pre-arrest silence may not be used as evidence of a 

defendant's guilt. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). 

However, not all remarks about a defendant's pre-arrest silence amount to 

a "comment" on the exercise of a constitutional right. See,~, Sweet, 

138 Wn.2d at 481; Lewis, 130 Wn.2d at 706. The test is "whether the 

prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on that 

right." Crane, 116 Wn.2d at 331; State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759,840, 

147 P.3d 1201, 1243 (2006). 

Without objection at trial reversal based on Fifth Amendment 

grounds is warranted only if there has been a manifest error affecting a 

constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). "[T]he appellant has the burden to 
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demonstrate that the alleged error actually affected his or her rights. 

'[I]t is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest," 

allowing appellate review. ", State v. McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352,357,37 

P.3d 280 (2002) (quoting State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 

P.2d 1251 (1995)). 

In Easter the investigating officer was allowed to testify over 

defendant's objection that the defendant ignored his questions about an 

automobile accident and looked downward "once again ignoring me, 

ignoring my questions" when the officer continued to question him. The 

officer was allowed to testify again over the defendant's objection that 

after the officer told him he would be taken for a blood draw to detect 

alcohol the defendant was no longer evasive and answered questions. The 

prosecutor referred to the defendant repeatedly during closing as a "smart 

drunk." In reversing, the court found that the officer's testimony 

combined with the prosecutor's statements in closing effectively used the 

defendant's pre-arrest silence as evidence of his guilt. Easter, supra, at 

232-35. 

Contrast Sweet in which the investigating officer testified that he 

spoke to the defendant who agreed to take a polygraph test and to give a 

written statement after he spoke with his attorney. Defendant did not 

object to this testimony. Neither the results of a polygraph test nor 
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statement were admitted in evidence. In ruling that the testimony did not 

violate the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights the court distinguished the 

case from the facts in Easter and characterized the officer's testimony as 

"at best a mere reference to silence which is not a "comment" on the 

silence [and] is not reversible error absent a showing of prejudice." 

Sweet, supra, at 480-81, citing State v, Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 706-07, 

927 P.2d 235 (1996). 

Appellant argues that State v. Easter, supra, supports his claim that 

Detective Savas' testimony that appellant failed to return telephone calls 

and email messages violated his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. 

Here, unlike in either Easter or Sweet Detective Savas never spoke to 

appellant so there was no testimony that appellant did not respond to 

questions or promised to give a statement or the like. Here, unlike in 

Easter, there was no claim or inference by the State during Detective 

Savas' testimony, during appellant's cross-examination, or during closing 

argument that appellant's failure to answer telephone calls or emails was 

evidence of his guilt although impeachment of appellant with his 

pre-arrest silence would not have been improper in this case because 

appellant testified. State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 

(2007). Finally, unlike in Easter, appellant failed to object to the 

detective's testimony. 
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Appellant has failed to demonstrate that Detective Savas' 

testimony about unreturned telephone calls and emails was used as 

evidence of his guilt or that it resulted in actual prejudice that affected his 

constitutional right to remain silent. At most, Detective Savas' testimony 

was, as in Sweet, a mere reference to silence and not a comment on that 

silence. Easter does not support appellant's argument. 

3. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

a. Failure To Object To Detective Savas' Testimony. 

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the 

defendant must show that (1) defense counsel's representation was 

deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and 

(2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322,334-35,899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (applying 

two-prong test of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 

2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). We presume counsel is effective, and the 

defendant must show there was no legitimate strategic or tactical reason 

for counsel's action. Id. at 335; State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 

204 P.3d 916,922 (2009). 

Appellant has met none of the burdens imposed by McFarland and 

Sutherby. As discussed in section 2 above, there was no reason for 

counsel to object to Detective Savas' testimony about the emails and 
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phone messages because it did not logically implicate his pre-arrest Fifth 

Amendment right to silence but was admitted to clarify the scope of 

Detective Savas' investigation including his efforts to get appellant's side 

of the story. 

Appellant makes the circular argument that counsel's failure to 

object to Detective Savas' testimony about his lack of response to phone 

calls and emails was ineffective because it was a comment on his 

pre-arrest silence in violation of the Fifth Amendment. However, as 

argued in section 2 above, the testimony did not violate appellant's Fifth 

Amendment rights. Appellant has failed to show how counsel's failure to 

object to the testimony prejudiced him or how there could have been no 

strategic or tactical advantage to his failure to object. Appellant's claim 

that counsel's failure to object was ineffective is without merit. 

b. Failure To Cite Case Law Supporting A Sentence 
Below The Standard Sentence Range. 

Appellant argues his counsel was ineffective for failing to argue at 

sentencing that the operation of the multiple offense policy of RCW 

9.94A.589 resulted in a sentence that was clearly excessive under RCW 

9.94A.535(l)(g). A presumptive sentence calculated in accord with the 

mUltiple offense policy is clearly excessive if the difference between the 

effects of the first criminal act and the cumulative effects of the 
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subsequent criminal acts is nonexistent, trivial or trifling. State v. 

Sanchez, 69 Wn. App. 255, 848 P.2d 208, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 

1007,859 P.2d 604 (1993); State v. Kinneman, 120 Wn. App. 327,342, 

84 P.3d 882, 890 (2003). 

In Kinneman, the court reversed the trial court's finding that under 

the multiple offense policy the defendant's standard sentence range was 

clearly excessive holding that the cumulative effects of his sixty-seven 

separate takings from his IOL TA trust account were not nonexistent, 

trivial, or trifling. Id. at 346. As in Kinneman, the cumulative effects of 

appellant's thirty-six takings from the school district were also not 

nonexistent, trivial, or trifling. 

Again, appellant does not explain how counsel's performance was 

deficient by not raising this meritless argument at sentencing or how he 

was prejudiced by this failure. He also makes no attempt to show there 

was no legitimate strategic or tactical reason for his counsel's decision. 

Instead, appellant substitutes his own judgment for trial counsel's in 

hindsight arguing that he should have argued the multiple offense policy at 

sentencing instead of double jeopardy. Given the evidence at trial and the 

egregiousness of appellant's conduct this argument would likely have 

failed to sway the trial court as well. Appellant has not met his burden of 
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showing that trial counsel's performance was deficient for not making this 

argument. 

E. CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, this court should affirm the judgment and 

sentence of the trial court.